LABOR AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN

CLALLAM TRANSIT SYSTEM AND

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, LOCAL 587

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT FOR PARATRANSIT EMPLOYEES

April 1, 2011 through December 31, 2012



TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	4
ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION	5
ARTICLE 2 DEFINITIONS	6
ARTICLE 3 UNION MEMBERSHIP	7
ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	8
ARTICLE 5 NON-DISCRIMINATION	9
ARTICLE 6 LABOR RELATIONS COMMITTEE	10
ARTICLE 7 UNION ACTIVITIES	11
ARTICLE 8 WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS	12
ARTICLE 9 HOURS OF WORK	13
ARTICLE 10 OVERTIME	14
ARTICLE 11 MEAL PERIODS	15
ARTICLE 12 SENIORITY	16
ARTICLE 13 WORK ASSIGNMENTS	19
ARTICLE 14 WORK IN REPRESENTED	20
CLASSIFICATIONS	
ARTICLE 15 WAGES	21
ARTICLE 16 JOB CLASSIFICATIONS AND BENEFIT	23
ELIGIBILITY	
ARTICLE 17 – HOLIDAYS	25
ARTICLE 18 VACATIONS	26
ARTICLE 19 SICK LEAVE	28
ARTICLE 20 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE	30
ARTICLE 21 BEREAVEMENT AND CIVIL LEAVE	31
ARTICLE 22 HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAMS	32

ARTICLE 23 UNIFORMS / BUS PASS	33
ARTICLE 24 WORKERS' COMPENSATION	34
ARTICLE 25 RETIREMENT PLANS	35
ARTICLE 26 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	36
ARTICLE 27 REPORTING FOR WORK	40
ARTICLE 28 LEAVES OF ABSENCE	41
ARTICLE 29 PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS	42
ARTICLE 30 ACCIDENT REPORTS	43
ARTICLE 31 BULLETIN BOARD	44
ARTICLE 32 SAVINGS CLAUSE	45
ARTICLE 33 MATTERS COVERED AND COMPLETED	46
AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 34 MUTUAL OBLIGATION	47
ARTICLE 35 DURATION	48

LABOR AGREEMENT

By and Between

CLALLAM TRANSIT SYSTEM

and

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, LOCAL 587, AFL-CIO

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is by and between, effective April 1, 2011, the Clallam Transit System (the Employer) for its operations located at 2417 West 19th Street, Port Angeles, Washington and Forks, Washington and Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 587, AFL-CIO (the Union).

We recognize that our mutual goal is to provide safe, comfortable, efficient and economical transportation services to the citizens of Clallam County.

Further, to achieve this goal we recognize the need for trust, cooperation and mutual respect.

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Employer hereby agrees to recognize and accept the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all drivers, dispatchers, customer service representatives and vehicle maintenance personnel that are employed by the Employer at its 2417 West 19th Street, Port Angeles, Washington or Forks, Washington locations. It is further understood and agreed that Guards, Supervisors and Confidential employees are excluded from the terms of this Agreement. Confidential employees are those employees who handle confidential material and matters on behalf of the employer.
- 1.2 Both Parties agree that the janitorial classification (as described in the job description dated 7/15/00) and the bus washer classification (as described in the job description dated 7/15/00) which duties are performed by no more than one person, nor more than 25 hours per week (per classification) will not be covered under this contract. New Employees hired after April 1, 2011, on a temporary basis (as defined in 16.4) will not be covered under this Labor Agreement.
- 1.3 Any and all new job classifications, and changes to existing job descriptions that include the removal of existing duties, or assignment of permanent additional duties, or the moving or reshuffling of duties between classifications (excluding management and supervisory classifications) will be negotiated with the Union. Concerns over job descriptions will be handled first by the LRC. If both parties mutually agree they have reached and impasse, then a mediator will assist the parties to reach an agreement.
- 1.4 It is recognized by the parties that no provision of this Agreement is intended to violate any requirement or rule established by law or contract(s). No modification of this Agreement shall be made unless reduced in writing and signed by the Employer and Union.
- 1.5 When classifications listed in Article 1.1 are affected by the decision to subcontract, or the work being contracted-out would be covered under Article 1.3, then the Employer and Union will mutually agree to the length of the contract using the MOA process. See Article 4.1

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS

- 2.1 For the purpose of this Agreement, the following definitions shall be understood as follows:
 - 1. "Employer" shall mean effective April 1, 2011, the Clallam Transit System.
 - 2. "Employee" shall mean all represented employees as defined in 1.1.
 - 3. "Bargaining Agent" or "Union" shall mean the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 587, AFL-CIO.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION MEMBERSHIP

- 3.1 All employees under the terms of this Agreement who are presently employed or who may become employed hereafter shall make application to become a member of the Union within thirty (30) days after his/her date of employment, except as otherwise restricted or provided for, by law. However, if the Employee is a member of a bona fide religious organization which denies Union membership, the above requirements shall be satisfied by the payment of an amount equal to initiation fees and regular Union dues to a non-religious charitable organization approved by the Union.
- 3.2 Except as noted in 3.1, Union membership is a condition of continued employment and the employee shall pay initiation fees, assessments and regular monthly dues as required by the Union Bylaws.
- 3.3 The Employer agrees to notify the Union within thirty (30) days when new employees are hired, whether full-time or regular part-time, or on-call and when employees are no longer employed by the Employer.
- 3.4 Upon receipt of a written and signed authorization by the employee, the Employer agrees that on or before the tenth day of each month, it will check-off and remit to the Financial Secretary of the Union on a monthly basis the membership dues, assessments and initiation fee required by the Union.
- 3.5 The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the Employer from any and all liability, loss or damage the Employer may suffer as a result of the claims, demands, costs, attorney fees and judgments which may arise by reason of action taken by the Employer under this Article.
- 3.6 Failure of any Employee to apply for and maintain a good standing membership in accordance with Articles 3.1 and 3.2 shall constitute cause for dismissal; however, the Employer has no duty to act until the Union makes a written request for discharge and verifies that the Employee received written notification of the delinquency, including the amount owing and method of calculation, and that non-payment within seven (7) days will result in discharge by the Employer. The Employer will have up to fourteen (14) days to release the Employee after receipt of the written notification from the Union.

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

4.1 The Employer retains all rights related to the management of the Company and its business and the direction of its working forces. This includes, but is not limited to, the following: to hire, promote, demote, transfer, suspend, and discipline or discharge employees for just cause; to plan, direct, and control operations. Employer reserves the right to subcontract work, however, see Article 1.5.

ARTICLE 5 - NON-DISCRIMINATION

- 5.1 The Employer and the Union agree that they will not discriminate unfairly against any employee by reason of race, creed, age, color, sex, national origin, religious belief, marital status, or mental or physical handicap.
- 5.2 Whenever words denoting the masculine gender are used in this Agreement, they are intended to apply equally to either gender.
- 5.3 In the event Human Rights Commission jurisdiction is invoked in any matter addressed by this Agreement, no proceeding may be taken under this Agreement with respect to the matter while such jurisdiction is pending, and action under this Agreement shall be superseded in the event of conclusion of the matter before the Human Rights Commission.

ARTICLE 6 - LABOR RELATIONS COMMITTEE

- 6.1 The Employer and the Union agree to establish a committee to be known as the "Labor Relations Committee". These meetings, which may be called by the EMPLOYER or UNION as needed, shall be held for the purpose of discussing the following:
 - a) Policies, procedures and contract issues affecting the working relationship between the Employer and the Union.
 - b) Negotiating all issues relating to benefits (excluding Article 23-Insurance).
 - c) Other subjects which may be mutually agreed upon as the need arises.

ARTICLE 7 - UNION ACTIVITIES

- 7.1 Upon written notification from the Union, the Employer will recognize designated shop stewards to represent the employees in the bargaining unit for the purpose of grievances and disputes arising out of or by virtue of the bargaining agreement.
- 7.2 The Employer will allow the Union to detail Union members, with pay and without loss of seniority, benefits or other rights, to conduct Union business. The Union will provide as much advance notice as possible. The Employer will make every effort to accommodate the Union's request. As a last resort, the Employer will contact the Union and options will be discussed including the possible cancellation of approved leaves in inverse seniority.
- 7.3 Members of the Union shall be granted short leaves of absence not to exceed 15 calendar days to attend Union sponsored activities, when requested, without pay and without loss of seniority, benefits or other rights provided 14 days notice is given to the Employer for such leaves of absence. The Employer may extend such leaves upon request of the Union.
- 7.4 Employees elected or appointed to a full-time office in Local 587 will be granted a leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority for their entire term of office.
- 7.5 The Union will promptly reimburse the Employer (according to a protocol worked out between the two) for wages and accrued benefits paid for time granted for leaves of absence to Employees to conduct Union business.

ARTICLE 8 - WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS

- 8.1 Written communications to the Employer from the Union will be answered within fourteen (14) calendar days in writing. Written communications from the Employer to the Union will be answered within fourteen (14) calendar days, in writing. All written communications to the Employer from the Union will be directed to the General Manager or their representative. Communications to the Union shall be directed to the President of the Local and shop stewards shall be copied. All written discipline must be issued to the employee within fourteen (14) calendar days of the Employer's first knowledge of such infraction(s), except where there is an ongoing investigation. Notification to the employee and the Union prior to the fourteen (14)-calendar day limit of an ongoing investigation will automatically extend the period to thirty (30) work days.
- 8.2 The Employer agrees to notify the Union of any changes in its rules and policies that may affect the working conditions or performance standards of the Employees and to meet with the Union within a reasonable period of time, but not less than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to implementation. The Employer will post on a bulletin board or distribute through Employee mail boxes all adopted rules, regulations or policy changes fourteen (14) calendar days prior to their effective date, except when special circumstances preclude such a notice.

ARTICLE 9 - HOURS OF WORK

- 9.1 Except as otherwise provided, eight (8) consecutive hours exclusive of a meal period shall constitute a day's work. The workweek shall be defined as forty (40) hours per week. The company will provide two consecutive days off unless otherwise agreed by both the Employee and Employer. The Employer reserves the right to create one shift with non- consecutive days off. This does not constitute a guarantee of minimum or maximum number of hours. The workweek will begin on Sunday at 12:00 a.m., and will end on Saturday at 11:59 p.m.
- 9.2 The Employer will endeavor in good faith to schedule workweeks of either five (5) consecutive days of eight (8) consecutive hours and/or four (4) consecutive days of ten (10) consecutive hours (exclusive of meal period).

ARTICLE 10 - OVERTIME

10.1 Overtime to be paid at time-and-one-half the Employee's regular rate of pay according to State labor laws. Any and all work, meetings, and/or assignments greater than forty (40) hours will be paid at time and one-half. Straight time will apply to under forty (40) hours in a workweek.

ARTICLE 11 - MEAL PERIODS

11.1 Meal periods of 30 minutes will be scheduled in compliance with Washington State law. An extended meal period, up to 60 minutes, may be scheduled, subject to operational or training constraints. Drivers have the option of waiving or taking a lunch, based on management discretion. In order to waive a lunch, the driver will be required to complete the required "Meal Waiver Form" and have it approved by management.

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY

- 12.1 A seniority roster shall be posted on the Employee bulletin board every three (3) months, showing the name of each Employee and the date each Employee entered the service of the Employer and /or date of transfer to the operating location. The seniority of each present and future, regular full-time, regular part-time, and/or on-call Employee, shall be as defined in 12.2 of this Article and Article 18.2 for layoffs and recall, and vacations.
- 12.2 Seniority as defined for lay-offs and recall shall be the length of their continuous service, commencing with the date of hire at any location by the Employer. The job being relatively equal, seniority shall govern in layoffs and recall to the bargaining unit. Lay-offs resulting through a reduction of forces will not be considered as a break in continuous service if it does not exceed six (6) months. Lay-offs shall be conducted in inverse order of seniority. Recall shall be conducted in order of seniority.
- 12.3 Where two (2) or more Employees are hired on the same date, seniority shall be determined (a) the receipt date of application and (b) by the time of application receipt.
- 12.4 Seniority for all Employees represented by the Union shall be recorded on lists certified by the Union and on file with Clallam Transit System effective April 1, 2011. Seniority shall be under the jurisdiction of the Union. All questions or grievances pertaining to seniority shall be settled by the Union.
- 12.5 The Union agrees to provide effective April 1, 2011, the Clallam Transit System Employees with certified seniority lists showing name(s), job classification, and seniority for shift bids, roll ups and layoffs. The Employer shall provide an up-to-date list of all new hires and job classification changes to the Union showing their hire date, job classification, application date and time of application for those hired on the same day. The Union will provide to the Employer, an explanation of any changes appearing on these lists.
- 12.6 When the employment of any Employee is terminated voluntarily or is terminated for cause, the Employee shall lose all existing seniority.
- 12.7 It is the responsibility of the Employee to keep on file at the office of the Employer, his/her current address and telephone number where he/she can

be reached in the event of recall. Employees recalled to duty will respond as quickly as possible, but in no event, later than fifteen (15) days from the date written notice of recall has been sent to the Employee. If any Employee does not report for duty within fifteen (15) days, he/she shall be considered out of service and his name removed from the seniority roster.

12.8 Employees moving to supervisory position shall retain their seniority during the first twelve (12) months in such positions, and shall suffer no loss of seniority if they return to a represented position within that time.

Employees remaining in supervisory positions for more than twelve (12) months shall lose all seniority if they return to a represented position. If returning to a represented position after more than twelve (12) months in a supervisory position, Employee's wages and benefits will be determined by such Employee's original date of hire with the Employer.

Employees moving to a non-supervisory, non-represented position shall retain their seniority for their probationary period plus one month. In no event shall this right exceed seven months.

A temporary position is an assignment where a member of the collective bargaining unit is assigned to a position titled temporary. A temporary position is entitled to a one-time assignment with a definite end date unless mutually extended and agreed upon. A temporary assignment shall not exceed twelve (12) months. Anything beyond twelve (12) months shall be considered permanent and all seniority shall be lost.

- 12.9 Employees hired on April 1 will have a probationary period that ends on December 31, 2011; Employees hired after June 30, 2011, will have a sixmonth probationary period after training is successfully completed. The Employer shall have no obligation to re-employ a probationary Employee if he or she is terminated during his or her probationary period.
- 12.10 Paratransit will be a separate Division of the Clallam Transit System. Seniority and "bumping rights" will not carry across divisions.
- 12.11 Employees hired on April 1, 2011, who have prior service under this Labor Agreement will be hired in seniority order as defined on a list provided by the Union. For benefit accrual, wage rate, and work

assignment purposes each Employee hired on April 1, 2011, will retain his/her time of service in the classification worked under this Labor Agreement for Paratransit Services. Accruals or calculations that depend on other than the original hire date under this Labor Agreement will depend on the availability of property records.

- 13.1 Work assignments shall be developed by the Employer for all represented personnel to bid for by seniority a minimum of three times each year or as needed for service demands. The effective dates of the bids shall be the first business Monday of January, the last Monday of April, and the last Monday of August. The April and August bids will be completed no later than fourteen (14) calendar days from the start of the bid. The December bid will be completed no later than thirty (30) calendar days from the start of the bid. The number of shift bids per year shall be reviewed by the LRC as needed.
- 13.2 Seniority on all bidding shall be based on the date of transfer or hire at the operating location.
- 13.3 If both the Union and Employer agree, bid shifts may contain two or more classifications of work. The Employee will be paid the wage scale for the classification he is working or the wage scale of his primary classification, whichever is greater.
- 13.4 Work will be assigned as per the "Work Assignment" sheet, a separate document that may be changed by mutual agreement as conditions warrant.

- 14.1 Non represented personnel may not work in any represented position except in the following three (3) situations:
 - 1. Emergency Staffing Situations -- Where "emergency" is defined as an unplanned, non recurring event where a position or service would not otherwise be filled.
 - 2. Shortage of Qualified Represented Employees -- A non represented employee may be scheduled to work in a represented classification if the following conditions are met:
 - The Employer is actively recruiting or training for the position.
 - All qualified represented Employees have or will have their full hour allotment. (See Article 9.2)
 - Represented work will be offered to qualified represented Employees first when they are not going to be put in an overtime situation. If the work assignment is not filled by a represented Employee, it may then be filled by a non-represented employee for that work shift.
 - 3. Where recurring gaps in scheduling occur not to exceed six (6) hours per week provided Article 9.2 is applied to full-time office staff.

15.1 All regular Full-time, regular Part-time and On-Call Employees in the classifications below shall be paid the following hourly rate for straight-time hours actually worked. The effective date is based on the date of hire/transfer to the position.

DRIVER

		Training	after							
Year	Train	Completed	6 mos.	1 yr.	2 yr.	3 yr.	4 yr.	5 yr.	6 yr.	7 yr.
2011	Min	\$9.91	\$10.55	\$11.02	\$12.44	\$13.38	\$14.32	\$14.80	\$15.27	\$15.74
2012	Min	\$10.01	\$10.66	\$11.13	\$12.56	\$13.51	\$14.46	\$14.95	\$15.42	\$15.90

DISPATCHER

			after	after	after	after	after	after
Year	Train	Training Completed	1 yr.	2 yr.	3 yr.	4 yr.	5 yr.	6 yr.
2011	Min	\$10.65	\$11.77	\$12.72	\$13.52	\$14.46	\$15.11	\$15.90
2012	Min	\$10.76	\$11.89	\$12.85	\$13.66	\$14.60	\$15.26	\$16.06

CUSTOMER SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE

			after	after	after	after	after	after
Year	Train	Training Completed	1 yr.	2 yr.	3 yr.	4 yr.	5 yr.	6 yr.
2011	Min	\$9.91	\$10.27	\$10.52	\$10.87	\$11.35	\$11.72	\$11.94
2012	Min	\$10.01	\$10.37	\$10.63	\$10.98	\$11.46	\$11.84	\$12.06

- 15.2 When the Employer utilizes the services of a driver/trainer, for training purposes, s/he will be reimbursed a rate of 110% of base hourly rate.
- 15.3 The Employer will continue a bi-weekly payroll.
- 15.4 The Employer may recruit a Lead Paratransit Dispatcher from the ranks of the Paratransit Dispatcher classification. Compensation for the Lead Paratransit Dispatcher shall be 110% of the Paratransit Dispatcher wage. Overtime for the purposes of covering whole shifts for pieces of work of at least two (2) hours will be offered by seniority within the Paratransit Dispatcher classification, then offered to the Lead Paratransit Dispatcher and/or assigned by reverse seniority.
- 15.5 An Employee represented under this Labor Agreement prior to April 1, 2011, who was or becomes a Temporary Employee will be paid no less than her/his most recent wage level prior to April 1.



- 16.1 An Employee shall be considered to be a Full-time Employee if his/her regularly scheduled workweek equals or exceeds thirty-five (35) hours. Full-time Employees are eligible for all benefits under this Labor Agreement.
- 16.2 An Employee shall be considered to be a Part-time Employee if his/her regularly scheduled workweek consists of less than thirty-five (35) hours but no less than twenty (20) hours per week. Each Part-time Employee is eligible for health care coverage and participation in PERS, provided s/he meets the specific plan requirements and pay his/her share of premiums/contributions.
- 16.3 An On-Call Employee is defined as a substitute who may or may not be regularly scheduled to work on a weekly basis, but are expected to work for up to thirty-five (35) hours per week. Hours may increase for short periods of time due to staffing shortages. On-Call Employees will cover shifts of full/part-time drivers who are sick, scheduled off, on vacation, or in times of driver shortages (i.e., turnover). Each On-Call Employee is eligible for health care coverage and participation in PERS, provided s/he meets the specific plan requirements and pay his/her share of premiums/contributions.
- 16.4 A Temporary Employee is hired on a continuous basis to work 867 hours or less per calendar year, and is expected to work less than seventy (70) hours per month for at least eight (8) months during the twelve-month period October 1 through September 30. Temporary Employees are not eligible for benefits other than those required by statute (i.e. coverage under a workers' compensation plan).
- 16.5 The parties understand that the basis of the Employer's business is wholly customer demand response, which is beyond the control of the Employer. Therefore, neither the minimum nor the maximum hours for each employment status can be guaranteed.
- 16.6 Management will review employment status each bid or on an "as needed" basis to ensure proper employment classification, and will meet with the Union before any bid position or Employee is reclassified as non-benefit eligible.

16.7 Once an Employee has obtained Employee benefits, s/he will continue to be benefit eligible so long as s/he holds a bid in a benefit eligible position (the Employee's share of premiums/contributions for benefit plans is determined by the bid position).

ARTICLE 17 - HOLIDAYS

17.1 Holidays

A. The following shall be paid holidays for Full-Time Employees:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

President's Day Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day

Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day
Day After Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day

plus one (1) Floater

17.2 Eligibility

- A. Employees hired on April 1, 2011, who are or become Full-Time are immediately eligible for holiday pay accrual.
- B. An Employee newly hired after April 1, 2011, who successfully completes his/her probation and is or becomes Full-Time is eligible for holiday pay accrual.
- C. In order to be eligible for holiday pay, an Employee must be in pay status for his/her regularly scheduled workweek immediately preceding and immediately following the holiday.

17.3 Accrual

- A. Full-time Employees will be paid eight (8) hours straight-time on each scheduled holiday for which they are eligible.
- B. The floater of eight (8) hours will accrue on each Full-time Employee's birthday starting in 2012. The floater must be used (scheduled as a vacation day) within twelve (12) months of its accrual.

ARTICLE 18 - VACATIONS

18.1 Vacations with pay will be granted to regular full-time Employees based upon the following schedule:

Total Paid Vacation	Length of Continuous Service
80 hours	After 1 year
120 hours	5 years
128 hours	10 years
136 hours	11 years
144 hours	12 years
152 hours	13 years
160 hours	15 years

20 years

Employees hired before 5/1/96 are grandfathered under the previous company vacation schedule.

120 hours	4 years
160 hours	10 years
176 hours	15 years
184 hours	17 years
200 hours	20 years

- 18.2 Vacation leave is accruable to a maximum of 240 hours. Vacation pay will be based on the wage rate in effect when vacation is taken. Employees must take at least one week (forty (40) hours) of their accrued vacation per year in minimum eight (8) hour blocks. Employees may request a vacation payout of up to a maximum of forty (40) hours once per calendar year under the following guidelines:
 - Must be employed for at least four (4) years.

200 hours

- Must have at least one hundred twenty (120) hours of vacation on the books prior to the payout.
- Must have used or is scheduled to use forty (40) hours of vacation in the calendar year.
- Request must be made at least thirty (30) days in advance.
- 18.3 Vacation and day off request shall be approved on a first come first serve basis except when the requested time off falls in the Prime Time period as described in 18.4

- 18.4 Prime time shall be: The Friday preceding Memorial Day weekend to the Tuesday following the Labor Day weekend and from December 15 through January 5, inclusive.
- 18.5 Request for time off during Prime Time shall be granted as follows:
 - 1. All requests for time off during Prime Time shall be submitted by January 30th of each year.
 - 2. Request will be granted in seniority order.
 - 3. Employees are limited to one Prime Time leave request. A leave request is defined as a single day off, or a block of continuous days off including RDOs during the Prime Time period.
 - 4. After all Prime Time leave requests have been processed, additional leave during the Prime Time Period may be granted on a first come first serve basis.
 - 5. All approved leave requests during the Prime Time period greater than one week (8 plus days) must be used or canceled in its entirety. All approved leave requests during the Prime Time period of one week (7 days) or less cannot be canceled.
- 18.6 Upon return of corporation property an Employee will be reimbursed any unused vacation accrual.
- 18.7 Non benefit eligible Employees moving to a benefit eligible position will receive one year of accrual credit for each 1,900 hours worked, or portion thereof.

ARTICLE 19 - SICK LEAVE

19.1 The Employer may require a physician's certificate or other reasonable proof of illness in the case of an absence due to illness, injury or disability

for which sick leave is payable where the Employer has a reason to suspect abuse by the Employee or if the Employer questions the physical capabilities of the Employee.

- 19.2 Full-time Employees defined in Section 16.1 shall accrue sick leave days from their most recent date of hire at the rate of one-half (½) day per month and are not available for Employee use until completion of their probationary period as defined in Section 12.9. Part-time Employees as defined in Section 16.2 shall accrue sick leave days from their most recent date of hire at the rate of .9230 hours per pay period (twenty-four (24) hours per anniversary year) and are not available for Employee use until completion of their probationary period as defined in Section 12.9. If an Employee changes status from part-time to full-time, his or her accrual rate shall be converted to the full-time rate with no loss or reduction in accrued balance. Full-time to part-time accrual will revert to part-time rate. Accrued balance will remain the same. Unused sick days can be carried over from one year to another up to a maximum of twenty (20) days, or one hundred sixty (160) hours.
- 19.3 Sick leave will be paid (as outlined in Section 19.4 below) on the first day of hospitalization due to accident or illness and on the first day of any illness or injury for which hospitalization is not required.
- 19.4 Sick leave shall be granted for the Employee's illness or injury. An Employee is responsible to notify his or her supervisor no later than two hours prior to the start of his or her work shift as to the Employee's condition. Such report is deemed merely a notification of absence; the approval of sick leave will be determined on the Employee's return to work. Employees are responsible to notify supervisors daily unless they are aware they will be out for more than one day and advise their supervisor of that fact. Employees who are out for an extended period must call the office no later than 2 p.m. the day before they are to return. If the Employee is unable to notify the supervisor because of extenuating circumstances, he must validate this and receive approval from the manager.
- 19.5 Employees will be allowed to transfer sick leave from their personal sick bank to another bank in accordance with the Employer's policies provided that the person receiving sick leave will have no sick leave at the time of transfer.

ARTICLE 20 - FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE 20.1 The Employer agrees to provide leave benefits to Employees under state and federal laws regarding family leave.

29

ARTICLE 21 - BEREAVEMENT AND CIVIL LEAVE 21.1 A regular full-time Employee may be granted up to seven (7) days off, (three (3) days shall be paid leave, the remainder shall be taken from 30

accrued leave banks or leave without pay), in the event of a death in his or her immediate family, which is defined as the Employee's father, mother, sister, brother, son, daughter, grandparent, stepchildren, spouse, in-laws, grand child, step parents, or a bona fide dependent residing in the Employee's home.

21.2 A regular full-time Employee will be granted civil leave if such Employee is called to serve on a jury or is subpoenaed to testify in court. Such Employees will be paid the difference between their regular minimum straight-time hourly rate of pay and the compensation for the latter. Employees are required to make arrangements with their supervisor at least ten (10) workdays in advance of the absence; provided that such notification is waived if the Employee receives a subpoena requiring his or her attendance with less than ten (10) days notice. Pay for jury duty leave under this Article shall be limited to thirty workdays.

ARTICLE 22 – HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAMS

22.1 The Employer agrees to provide a medical insurance program, a dental insurance program, a vision insurance program, a confidential counseling

service, and a \$25,000 life insurance program covering the benefit eligible Employees. The benefits offered under these programs at a minimum shall be comparable to the UMP Healthcare Plan offered by the Public Employees Benefits Board.

- 22.2 Employees may choose from among the health plan options offered by the provider selected by the Employer, and will pay the difference between the cost of the plan option selected and the Employer's share for the basic health plan option. The Employer shall provide a schedule of health plan options and their respective costs at the start of any enrollment period.
- 22.3 The Employer agrees to provide basic disability insurance for benefit eligible Employees through the Washington State Health Care Authority. When offered, a benefit eligible Employee may elect broader coverage, at the Employee's expense.
- 22.4 Benefit eligible Employees hired on April 1, 2011, shall be eligible for coverage and premium subsidy immediately. Thereafter, any new Employee hired into benefit eligible positions may elect to be covered at the Employee's expense effective the first of the month following the successful completion of training, and become eligible for the Employer medical and dental premium subsidy at the beginning of the fourth month following the successful completion of his/her probationary period.
- 22.5 All premiums shall be made by payroll deduction, if applicable.

ARTICLE 23 - UNIFORMS / BUS PASS

- 23.1 The Employer shall provide uniform(s) for the Employee. The Employee shall be responsible for cleaning the uniform. The initial uniform allotment shall be:
 - Part-time/on-call Employees: 3 shirts, 3 pants, 1 jacket/sweater and 1 hat Full-time Employees: 5 shirts, 5 pants, 1 jacket/sweater and 1 hat.
- 23.2 All regular full-time, regular part-time and on-call Employees in the Driver, Dispatcher, and Customer Service Representative classifications who have completed 90 days continuous employment shall be eligible for 1 Adult Premium bus pass for use with the Clallam Transit System. Eligibility will discontinue if the Employee is discharged or separates from employment.

ARTICLE 24 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION

- 24.1 The Employer shall comply with all safety, health and sanitation measures required by the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act (WISHA) and the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA). The Employees shall comply with safety, health and sanitation standards, rules and regulations.
- 24.2 Any Employee who is injured on the job to the extent requiring medical treatment that results in his or her leaving work shall be entitled to pay for the time involved during his or her normal work hours. If the Employee needs immediate medical attention an ambulance will be called or a Company representative will drive the injured Employee to the doctor or hospital. In the event a doctor advises an injured Employee that he or she should not return to work because of the injury, he or she shall, upon presenting to the Employer on the day of the injury or within a reasonable time thereafter a doctor's certificate certifying such doctor's advice, be entitled to pay for the full shift on the day of the injury only. The Employee will be required to complete an on-the-job injury report at the time of injury or as soon as reasonably possible. If the Employee is hospitalized it shall be the responsibility of the supervisor to ensure on-the-job injury reports are completed.

ARTICLE 25 - RETIREMENT PLANS

25.1 Old-Age and Survivors Insurance System

The Employer agrees to provide coverage to each eligible Employee in the Old-Age and Survivors Insurance System as defined by the Federal Social Security Act, the Revised Code of Washington, and other applicable federal and state regulations.

25.1 CTS Retirement Plan

A. The Employer agrees to contribute an amount equal to the employer's statutory premium percentage for each eligible Employee's compensation (as defined by each Plan) to the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS) plans.

Both the Employer and the Union agree to open this section to negotiation should the mandatory employer PERS contribution increase above 9.5%. PERS Plan documents control all provisions relating to administration, vesting, distribution, and investment choices, except the contribution rates as specified above.

B. Each benefit eligible Employee may contribute to an Employer sponsored 457 Deferred Compensation Plan starting after the completion of his/her training. The maximum amount that an Employee may contribute will be controlled by statute and the 457 Plan documents.

ARTICLE 26 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

26.1 Purpose

The purpose of this procedure is to provide an orderly method for resolving grievances. A determined effort shall be made to settle any such differences at the lowest possible level in the grievance procedure, and there shall be no suspension of work or interference with the operations of the EMPLOYER.

26.2 Definition of Grievance

For the purpose of this Agreement, a grievance is defined as only those disputes involving the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of any provision of this Agreement including the "Employees Manual", Extra Board Rules, and any applicable letters/memorandums of understanding. Grievances shall be processed in accordance with the following procedures within the stated time limits.

26.3 Reduce to Writing

In the event a grievance arises, it shall be reduced to writing and specify the act or event being grieved, the date of the occurrence, the identity of the Employee or Employees who claim to be aggrieved, the provisions of the Agreement that allegedly have been violated, and the remedy sought. It will be handled as outlined in Section 5.

26.4 Forfeiture of Grievance

Defined time limits in this Article may be extended by a written agreement between the parties. However, should either party to the Agreement breach the time limitation, that party shall forfeit all rights and claims to the grievance and the grievance shall be considered resolved in the other party's favor; it being understood that such forfeiture does not decide the merits or establish a precedent. For the purpose of this Article, "working days" shall mean Monday through Friday, normal EMPLOYER business days.

26.5 Steps in the Grievance Procedure

- Step 1. The grievant Employee shall present the grievance within ten (10) working days of its alleged occurrence to the Employee's immediate supervisor who shall schedule a hearing if requested by the grievant and provide a written response within ten (10) working days after receipt of the grievance. Both the Employee and the Employee's immediate supervisor have the option of requiring a hearing and/or the inclusion of UNION representation at any point in the grievance procedure. If a hearing is not requested at the time the grievance is submitted by the grievant or required by the EMPLOYER, the grievance may be answered in writing without a hearing at Step 1.
- Step 2. If the grievant Employee is not satisfied with the solution of the immediate supervisor, the Employee shall submit written notice to the General Manager and a copy to the UNION including, (1) statement of the grievance and relevant facts, (2) specific provision(s) of the Agreement violated, and (3) remedy sought, within ten (10) working days from the receipt of the immediate supervisor's response. The General Manager shall schedule a hearing if requested by the Employee and respond to the Employee in writing within ten (10) working days from receipt of the grievance at the second step.
- Step 3. If no agreement can be reached at Step 2, the Union Business Representative/designee may appeal to arbitration by notifying the General Manager in writing. Such referral must be sent by certified mail within sixty (60) days after the Union receives the Step 2 decision. The grievance as set forth in writing in Step 2 may be submitted to an arbitrator in accordance with the following procedures:
 - A. The grievance has been approved for arbitration by the UNION membership in accordance with the UNION'S Constitution and Bylaws.
 - B. A list of seven (7) arbitrators shall be requested from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. Both parties shall meet and each shall strike a name until an

- arbitrator is selected. The Union will contact the arbitrator to determine his/her availability and will be responsible to schedule all requested arbitrations.
- All meetings and hearings under this procedure shall C. be kept informal and private, and shall include only such parties in interest and/or designated representatives. The arbitrator shall render a decision within 30 calendar days from the date of the formal hearing. The power of the arbitrator shall be limited to interpreting this Agreement and determining if the disputed Article or portion thereof has been violated. The arbitrator shall have no authority to alter, modify, vacate, or amend any terms of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator within these stated limits shall be final and binding on both parties.
- D. In case of a grievance involving any continuing or other monetary claim against the EMPLOYER, no award shall be made by the arbitrator which shall allow any alleged accruals for more than 10 working days prior to the date when such grievance shall have first been presented.
- E. Expenses for the arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall be borne equally by the parties. However, each party shall be completely responsible for all costs of preparing and presenting its own case, including compensating its own representatives and witnesses. If either party desires a record of the proceedings, it shall solely bear the cost of such record.
- F. The parties agree to attend a pre-arbitration conference no later than 14 calendar days before a scheduled arbitration. The purpose of this conference shall be to discuss and narrow issues, explore settlement, prepare

a submission agreement if no settlement agreement is reached, and to treat other matters relevant to the arbitration proceeding. Thereafter, should either party cancel within five working days of the scheduled arbitration date, the canceling party shall pay cancellation costs charged by the arbitrator and opposing counsel.

G. There shall be no strike or lockout on any matter submitted to arbitration.

ARTICLE 27- REPORTING FOR WORK

27.1 An Employee shall be considered in a payroll status when he/she reports to the designated location at the time indicated by the Employer. In the event that the Employee is not able to perform his/her duties because of a breakdown, equipment shortage, inclement weather or scheduling error, the Employer will guarantee two hours for report time. Any shift hour changes or cancellations must be conveyed to the Employee two (2) hours prior to such change. If advance notification does not occur, the Employer will pay two (2) hours for canceled assignments. The Employee may be expected to be on site during those two hours and perform additional duties as may be assigned (such as answering phones, appropriate clerical duties and assistance to drivers).

ARTICLE 28 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 28.1 Leaves of absence may be granted by the Employer if deemed appropriate and beneficial to CTS.
- 28.2 A request for leave without pay by an Employee in order to accept other employment shall be considered as insufficient reason for approval of such request. With the approval of the Employer, leave of absence, shall be granted, without pay to full-time or regular part-time Employees for the purpose of service in the Armed Forces; provided that such request for leave shall be in writing and accompanied with a validated copy of military orders ordering such Employee into active service with the Armed Forces.
- 28.3 Personal leave of absence may be granted for up to thirty (30) days. Failure to return to work following the approved leave of absence will result in termination of employment. Extension of the thirty (30) day leave of absence may be granted based on operational needs.
- 28.4 Leaves of absence for medical reason may be granted for up to one year. Employees will be required to contact their Employer on a monthly basis while out. Upon return the Employee will be required to submit a medical release certificate.

ARTICLE 29 - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS

- 29.1 Employees are required to meet all state, federal and local guidelines relating to physical examinations and testing, including drug and alcohol testing.
- 29.2 Beginning January 1, 2002, the Employer will provide for the renewal of Department of Transportation physicals for non-benefit eligible Employees who have completed probation as defined in Section 12.9. Location of provider shall be chosen at the Employee's discretion at a cost not to exceed \$75.00 per physical.

ARTICLE 30 - ACCIDENT REPORTS

30.1 Employees will be paid at their regular rate of pay for completing reports of accidents and incidents on the date of occurrence; also Employees will be paid at their regular rate of pay when the supervisor requests time to discuss work related issues.

ARTICLE 31- BULLETIN BOARD

31.1 A space will be allocated in the driver's room for a Union bulletin board. All postings on the Union bulletin board will be authorized by the Union. Employer will provide a bulletin board.

ARTICLE 32 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

32.1 Should any provision of this Agreement or the application of such provision be rendered or declared invalid by any court action or by reason of existing or subsequently enacted legislation, the remaining portions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 33 - MATTERS COVERED AND COMPLETED AGREEMENT

33.1 It is agreed that this document contains the full and complete Agreement on all bargainable issues at this time between the parties hereto and for all whose benefit of this Agreement is made. It is recognized that issues may need to be discussed from time to time using the LRC.

ARTICLE 34 - MUTUAL OBLIGATION

34.1 The parties recognize that it is in their mutual best interests that the citizens of Clallam County are assured that they are receiving paratransit service in the most efficient and effective manner, and that system efficiency improvements are dependent upon maximizing the use of resources and procedural processes within management and labor. Improved system efficiency is recognized to be a mutual obligation of both parties within their respective roles and responsibilities.

ARTICLE 35 - DURATION

35.1 This Agreement shall be effective January 1, 2010, except for those provisions of the Agreement which have been assigned other effective dates as herein above set forth and shall remain in full force and effect to and including December 31, 2012 and shall continue thereafter from year to year unless at least sixty (60) days prior to December 31, 2012 either party shall file written notice with the other of its desire to amend, modify or terminate this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement this day of,	
AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION LOCAL 587, AFL-CIO	CLALLAM TRANSIT SYSTEM
By	By
Paul J. Bachtel President/Business Agent	Terry G. Weed General Manager
Date	Date